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Administrative Hearing Commission

State of Missouri
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)
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)
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)


vs.

)

No. 05-0341 DH



)

CRAIG STARR,

)




)



Respondent.
)

DECISION

The Missouri Department of Health and Senior Services (“the Department”) may discipline Craig Starr for violating a drug law and pleading guilty to a criminal offense.  
Procedure


On March 11, 2005, the Department filed a complaint seeking to discipline Starr on three charges.  On June 21, 2005, the Department filed a motion for summary determination, which it supplemented with certified court records on June 27, 2005.  

On a motion for summary determination, we may decide a case without a hearing if any party establishes facts that entitle any party to a favorable decision.
  In our order dated July 27, 2005, we granted the motion as to the first charge, but we denied it as to the second and third charges.  


On August 12, 2005, the Department filed a voluntary dismissal of the second charge because it could not compel the testimony of a federal employee to support that charge.  Also in that filing, the Department asked to file a brief on the third charge.  It sought a reconsideration of our order dated July 27, 2005, denying summary determination as to that charge.  Because the Department believed that summary determination would resolve the third charge, it asked us to cancel the hearing.  We granted that request, and the Department filed its brief on August 24, 2005.  

We personally served Starr with notice of this case and a copy of the complaint on April 5, 2005.  We gave him until May 5, 2005, to file a responsive pleading; July 15, 2005, to respond to the motion for summary determination; and September 9, 2005, to file any written argument in response to the Department’s brief on the remaining charge.  Starr has not filed anything or otherwise participated in this case.  

The affidavit and certified court records supporting the Department’s motion for summary determination establish the following facts, and Starr has not disputed them.   
Findings of Fact

1. Starr holds an EMT-paramedic (“EMT-P”) license that is, and was at all relevant times, current and active.  
2. On September 12, 2002, and again on January 13, 2004, Starr diverted a medication called “Demerol” from its container and substituted another substance for it.  One of those diversions left only ten percent Demerol in the container, and the other left no detectable amount of Demerol.  Each diversion created a risk of death or serious bodily injury, and Starr acted with reckless disregard and extreme indifference to that risk.  
3. On May 24, 2004, the United States District Court for the Western District of Missouri found Starr guilty, on his guilty plea, of two counts of tampering with a consumer product under 18 USC § 1365(a)(4), which punishes:

Whoever, with reckless disregard for the risk that another person will be placed in danger of death or bodily injury and under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to such risk, tampers with any consumer product that affects interstate or foreign commerce, or the labeling of, or container for, any such product, or attempts to do so[.]

(Emphasis added.)  The court imposed sentence that day.  

Conclusions of Law

We have jurisdiction to hear the Department’s complaint under § 190.165.2,
 which provides:

The department may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621, RSMo, against any holder of any . . . license required by sections 190.100 to 190.245 . . . for failure to comply with the provisions of sections 190.100 to 190.245 or any lawful regulations promulgated by the department to implement such sections.  Those regulations shall be limited to the following[.]

The Department’s charges are as follows.

· The first charge is pleading guilty to certain types of crimes under §190.165.2(2) and Regulation 19 CSR 30-40.365(2)(B).  

· The second charge is violating professional trust or confidence under §190.165.2(12) and Regulation 19 CSR 30-40.365(2)(L).  

· The third charge is violating a drug law under § 190.165.2(14) and Regulation 
19 CSR 30-40.365(2)(N).
The Department has the burden to prove that Starr has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.
 
I.  Pleading Guilty

Our order dated July 27, 2005, found that Starr is subject to discipline on the first charge under § 190.165.2(2) and Regulation 19 CSR 30-40.365(2)(B), and we incorporate our order dated July 27, 2005, into this decision.  
II. Violating a Drug Law
The Department asks us to reconsider our ruling on the third charge, which cites 
§ 190.165.2(14) and Regulation 19 CSR 30-40.365(2)(N).  Those provisions allow discipline for:

[v]iolation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state or the federal government[.]

(Emphasis added.)  Starr pled guilty to violating 18 U.S.C. § 1365(a), which punishes:

Whoever, with reckless disregard for the risk that another person will be placed in danger of death or bodily injury and under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to such risk, tampers with any consumer product that affects interstate or foreign commerce, or the labeling of, or container for, any such product, or attempts to do so[.]

(Emphasis added.)  
The issue that the Department asked to brief is whether 18 U.S.C. § 1365(a) is a “drug law.”  The Department cites no authority expressly describing that statute as a drug law, and we find none.
  The Department cites 18 U.S.C. § 1365(h)(1)(A):

(h) As used in this section—


(1) the term “consumer product” means—



(A) any “food”, “drug”, “device”, or “cosmetic”, as those terms are respectively defined in section 201 of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (21 U.S.C. 321)[.]

We conclude that such definition brings product tampering within the category of drug law.  We give § 190.165.2(14) and Regulation 19 CSR 30-40.365(2)(N) a liberal reading because its purpose is to protect the public from the danger it addresses.  Because it penalizes tampering with drugs, 18 U.S.C. § 1365(a) is a drug law.  
Therefore, on reconsideration, we grant the Department’s motion for summary determination as to § 190.165.2(14) and Regulation 19 CSR 30-40.365(2)(N).  
Summary


Starr is subject to discipline for pleading guilty to a crime reasonably related to the functions and duties of an EMT-P and involving moral turpitude.  Starr is also subject to discipline for violating a drug law.  All charges having been disposed of, in 30 days we will certify our record to the Department under § 621.110.    

SO ORDERED on November 3, 2005.



________________________________



JUNE STRIEGEL DOUGHTY



Commissioner

	�Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.440(3)(B).  


	�Statutory references are to the 2004 Supplement to the Revised Statutes of Missouri unless otherwise noted.


	�Missouri Real Estate Comm'n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).





	�We have found that violating 18 U.S.C. § 1365(a) is cause for discipline under § 190.165.2(14) and Regulation 19 CSR 30-40.365(2)(N) in earlier cases, though we did not analyze the issue.  Missouri Bd. of Pharmacy v. Courtney, No. 02-1268 PH (Feb. 4, 2003).   
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